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(DR-08-307.01)

THOMPSON, Presiding Judge.
Kevin J. Knight ("the father") and Sarah J. EKnight ("the

mother") were divorced by an August 29, 2008, judgment of the
trial court. The diverce judgment incerporated an agreement

reached by the parties. Pursuant to the divorce judgment, the
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parties shared joint legal and physical custody of their minor
child.

On February 12, 2009, the mother filed a petitiocon seeking
to modify custody of the c¢child, reguesting permission to
relocate to California with the c¢hild and seeking a
modification of child suppcrt. The father filed an answer in
which he objected to the proposed relocaticon and asserted
counterclaims seeking an award of custody of the child and an
award of child support.

The trial court conducted a hearing over the course of
two davs. On September 9, 2009, the trial court entered a
Judgment in which it awarded primary physical custedy of the
child to the mother, authorized the mother to relocate with
the c¢hild to California, and modified the father's child-
support cobligation. The father filed a postjudgment moticn,
and the trial court denied that motion. The father timely
appealed.

The record indicates that the parties moved to Alabama
some time before the birth of their child 1in Octcokber 2006.
The parties' testimony established that they each grew up in

or near Santa Ynez, California, that they went to schceol
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there, and that they moved from the Santa Ynez area to Alabama
in order for the father to work with his uncle in constructing
houses in Alakbama. The father's testimony indicates that the
initial plans to work with or for his uncle did not work cut
and that, thereafter, the father created his own construction
business. The father and his business partner construct and
remodel homes to sell to others.

The mother owned a clothing store until January 2009.
The mother testified that she traveled to California monthly
to purchase merchandise for her store and that she often took
the c¢hild with her on those Dbuying trips. The mother
explained that she had a great deal of extended family in the
Santa Ynez area and that the mother and the child visited
family and friends when they went on buying trips.

The partles divorced 1n August 2008. The custedy
agreement incorporated intc the parties' divorce judgment
provided that the mother have custoedy of the child for 7 of 11
days and for the father to have the child for the remaining 4
days of the 1l-day period. The mother explained that the
parties anticipated that the father would have the child for

two consecutive four-day pericds when she traveled to
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California for her business. However, the mother testified
that, after the divorce, the father did not exercise all the
custodial periods available to him and that, on at least one
occasion after the parties' divorce, she had taken the child
with her when she traveled to California. The mother
submitted into evidence an exhibit documenting the dates on
which she had had custody of the child, the dates on which the
father had had custody of the c¢hild, and custcdial days
avalilable to the father that he had not exercised. The mother
testified that, after she filed her February 2009 complaint
seeking authorization to relocate to California with the
child, the father fully exercised his custodial time.

The father disputed that he had not fully exercised his
custodial pericds. The father stated that he had rescheduled
some of the days he was Lo have the child kbut Chat he believed
he had not missed any oppcrtunity to have custody of the
child.

After the parties moved to Alabama from California, the
mother's sister and parents, who had lived in the Santa Ynez
area, also relccated to Alabama to be closer to the parties.

The mother explained that her parents are attending college 1in
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Alabama in order to obtain their teaching certificates. The
mother testified that her sister and the sister's family had
spent a great deal of time traveling between California and
Alabama but that her sister and her sister's family had
recently returned to live in California.

The mother testified that she wanted to relocate with the
child to California for several reasons. The mother testified
that her business had been unprofitable and that she had sold
the business. The mother stated that she had attempted to
locate emplcoyment 1in Alabama but that her efforts had been
unsuccessful. At the time of the hearing in this matter, the
mother and the c¢hild were living in government-subsidized
housing.

The mother testified that she had received an offer for
a Jjob in California with a salary of $48,000, plus
commissions; the mother stated that she bkelieved her annual
inceme could be as much as $60,000 in that job. According to
the mother, the job cffer was a position in event sales for a
winery. The mother explained that, in addition tc the salary,
the Jjob was attractive because she would be required to work

away from her house for only two days each week; the mother
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stated that she could work from home for the remainder of the
time, which would enable her to spend more time with the
child. The mother testified that she could rent a home in
Santa Ynez for $500 per month from the parents of a long-term
male friend.

The mother presented evidence regarding a Montesscri
preschool she planned for the child to attend on the days she
worked away from her home. The mother stated that, althcugh
she had been satisfied initially with the church preschocl the
child has been attending, she believed that it was in the
nature of a "day care."” The mother testified that she
believed the child needed more educational opportunities, such
as those available at the preschocl in Califernia. The mother
had alsc identified a local charter schocl as a possible
elementary school for the child when he reached schecol age.

The mother also testified regarding the great number of
aunts, uncles, cousins, and friends she and the child had in
the Santa Ynez area. The mother stated that the extended-
family members could provide support if she needed help with

the child.
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The mother also testified that she has facilitated, and
will continue to facilitate, the relationship between the
child and the father. It is undisputed that the child spezks
on the teleprhone daily with the parent who does not then have
custody of him. The mother testified that she had proposed a
custodial arrangement to allow the father visitaticon with the
child 1f she were allowed to relocate with the c¢hild.
Pursuant to that proposed agreement, the mother would have the
child for four consecutive weeks and the father wculd have the
child for two consecutive weeks. The mother explained that
that arrangement would result in the father having only six
fewer days per year with the child than he is afforded under
the custody arrangement specified in the divorce Jjudgment.
The mother also stated that the father coften visits California
to see friends and family and that he could exercise
additional visitation with the child during those times. In
addition, the mother propcsed that the father use the Internet
to have video-telephone conversations with the child.

The parties presented evidence regarding the cost of
flying from Alakama to Califcrnia, and they agreed that an

adult would have teo fly with the c¢child, whe was two vears cld
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at the time of the hearing, when he traveled to and from
California, thereby increasing the transportation costs. The
mother stated that the child enjoyed flying on an airplane.
The mother testified that the trip normally took five to six
hours, including time for a layover. The mother stated that
a direct flight from Alabama to California tocok only four
hours, but she stated that she had never taken a direct flight
with the child. The mother explained that she believed the
child would do better if he were akle to leave the plane
during a layover for exercise and a meal.

The father conceded that the mother was a goocd mother and
that she has been the child's primary caretaker. The father
testified that he did not want the child to be remcved from
Alabama; the father stated that he intended to make Alabama
his permanent home and that he wanted the child to be raised
in Alabama. In addition, the parties agreed that the father
and the child have a close relationship.

The father stated that, because he was self-emplovyed, his
schedule was flexible and he ccould meet the child's needs.
The father presented evidence indicating that the child had

been attending a church day care cr preschool while in Alabama
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and that the child could continue to do so until he reached
school age. The father presented evidence concerning a
private school he wanted the child to attend when the child
reached school age.

The father also stated that, when necessary, he could
leave the c¢hild in the care of the father's mother, whoe lived
nearby. The father admitted that the mother was concerned
about leaving the child with the paternal grandmother, who has
a felony drug convicticon. However, the father stated that he
would not leave the child with the paternal grandmother if he
had any concerns about her akility to properly care for the
child. The father also testified that the child was close to
the father's nine-year-old brother.

In addition, the father testified that the mother's
parents would be willing t¢ help him with the c¢child if
necessary. The mother's father testified, however, that he
anticipated that he and the child's maternal grandmother would
return to California 1f the mother was allowed tce relccate; he
explained that the mother's sister had already returned to
Califernia and that he and his wife wanted tc be near their

children and grandchildren.
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The father testified that he believed that the mother
lived an extravagant lifestyle that was beyvond her financial
means. The mother alleged that the father had been
controlling during their marriage and that she believed he was
continuing to attempt to control her after their divorce. The
father disputed that the mother could not find employment in
Alabama, and he gquestioned whether she had truly attempted to
do so. The father presented evidence indicating that one of
the mother's former emplovers had job openings for positicns
with salaries in the range of $25,000 to 540,000 per vyear.
The operator of that business acknowledged that the mother had
carned only $22,000 per vear when she was employed with his
business, and he stated that he was not offering the mother a
540,000 per vyear job.

The father indicated that he had traveled tc the Santa
Ynez area twice in the year since the parties' divorce. TWe
note that, on one of those trips, the father was accompanied
by his girlfriend and that, during that trip, the mother and
the child were also in California. The father conceded that
he did not attempt to see the child in the five days he was in

California during that trip. Rather, the father admitted that

10
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he spent much of that time following the mother, survelilling
the home of the man with whom he suspects the mother 1is
involved, and asking questions of the mother's prospective
emplovyer.

At the close of the hearing in this matter, the trial
court noted, with regard to the issues of custody and the
proposed relocation:

"I will say this to both of vyou. This 1is c¢ne of

those cases that judges hate. Two good people. Two

good parents, and no good solutions, so whatever T

decide i1s going to be tough., T will do my best, but

there 1is not a good guy and a bad guy .

In addition to their evidence on the issue of custody and
the proposed relocaticn, the parties also presented evidence
regarding their earnings for the purpose of calculating child
support. The mother's evidence indicated that she anticipated
earning a salary of $48,000 per year. The father testified
that he earned in the range of $2,000 to $3,000 per month; the
reccord does ncot indicate whether that estimate was gross
inceme or net income. 1In response to discovery reguests, the

father indicated that he had earned $1%,000 for the year as of

May 2009.

11
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In addition, the mother submitted into evidence the
father's bank statements. Those bank statements indicate that
large amounts of money were deposited or transferred into the
father's bank accounts each month. The father admitted that
between January and June 2009, approximately $150,000 had been
deposited or transferred into his checking account. The
father explained that many of those funds were used to
purchase construction supplies for the construction or
remocdeling jobs on which he was working. The father testified
that he dces not know how much of that money he used for his
personal expenses versus his business expenses. The father
explained that he usually went through his banking statements
only two times per vear.

The mother submitted into evidence a list, compiled from
the father's banking statements, of the father's expendlitures
that she maintained did not include construction expenses.
The father did not dispute the mother's calculations. The
father stated, however, that many restaurant expenses
reflected on the mother's exhibit included costs for clients.

The father's nonbusiness expenses for the first six months of

12
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2009, as calculated in the mother's exhibit, averaged more
than $¢,700 per month.

In 1its Judgment 1in this matter, the +trial court
determined, among other things, that the mother's income was
$4,166.66 per month, which equates to an annual income of
S50,000, The trial ccourt found the father's income to be
$4,222.22 monthly, which is equivalent to an annual gross
inceme of approximately $51,000.

On appeal, the father first argues that the trial ccurt
erred in awarding the mother primary physical custcedy of the
child and allowing her to relocate with the c¢hild to
California. The Alabama Parent-Child Relationship Protection
Act ("the Act"}), & 30-3-160 et seg., Ala. Code 1975, governs
actions 1in which a parent seecks to relocate to another
Jurisdiction with & c¢hild of the parties. In his brief on
appeal, the father asserts arguments pertaining to whether
each party met his or her purported burden under § 30-3-
169.4, Ala. Code 1975, which provides:

"In proceedings under this article unless there

has been a determinatlion that the party objecting to

the change of the principal residence of the child

has been fcound to have committed domestic violence

or c¢hild abuse, there shall be a rebuttable
presumption that a change of principal residence of

13
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a child is not in the best interest of the child.

The party seeking a change of principal residence of

a child shall have the initial burden of proof on

the issue. Tf that burden cof proof is met, the

burden of proof shifts to the non-relocating party.”

In this case, after their divorce, the parties shared
Joint legal and physical custody of the child. See & 30-3-
151(3), Ala. Code 1975 ("Joint physical custody does not

necessarily mean physical custody of egual durations of

time."). Thus, the child "had two principal residences, cne
with the father and one with the mother.m Marsh v. Smith,
[Ms. 2080479, Oct. 30, 2009] __ Sc. 3d __, (Ala. Civ.
App. 2009).

With regard to reviewling a case 1in which a trial court
has received ore tenus evidence, this court has stated:

"[Wlhere a trial court receives ore tenus evidence,
its judgment based on that evidence 1s entitled tLo
a presumption of correctness. See Scheoll v,
Parsons, [655 Sc¢. 2d 1060 (Ala. Civ., App. 1895)].
'The presumption of correctness is based in part on
the trial court's unigue ability to observe tLhe
parties and the witnesses and to evaluate their
credibility and demsanor.' Littleton v, Littleton,
741 So. 2d 1083, 1085 (Ala. Civ. App. 1999). This
court is not permitted to reweigh the evidence on
appeal and toe substitute its Judogment for that of
the trial court. Somers v. McCoy, 777 So. 24 141
(Ala. Civ. App. 2000); sce also Ex parte Ferkins,
646 So., Z2d 46 (Ala. 1994)."

14
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Clements v. Clements, 206 So. 2d 952, 959 (Ala. Civ. App.

2005) (emphasis added).

In this case, the record supports a conclusion that the
mother has been the primary caretaker for the child, who was
not vyet three vyears o0ld at the time the Jjudgment in this
matter was entered. The mother's testimony indicated that she
had available to her a good Jjob in California that also
allowed her flexibility to spend time with the child. The
mother presented evidence indicating that the child cculd
attend an educational preschool program in California. In
addition, the mother presented evidence indicating that the
child was familiar with California, that the child had spent
a great deal of time there, and that there were a number of
family members in California to support the mcecther in caring
for the child, In additicon, the mother's father indicated
that the mother's parents would likely move back to California
1if the mother returned there.

The mother also presented evidence indicating that she
had encouraged and assisted the child 1In maintalining his
relationship with the father, and she testified that she weuld

continue to do so. The mother submitted an exhibkit

15
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demonstrating that, until she filed her complaint seeking a
modification of custody and permission to relocate, the father
had failed to exercise all of his custodial periods. The
visitation schedule proposed by the mother if she were allowed
to move, which was adopted by the trial court in its September
%, 2009, Jjudgment, affords the father significant time with
the child.

The trial court made no findings with regard to whether
the parties had met thelr respective burdens under the Act
with regard to the proposed change to the child's principal
residence. "[Wlhen the trial court's Jjudgment does not
contalin specific findings of fact, this court must assume that
the trial court made those findings of fact necessary to

support its Jjudgment." Steed v. Steed, 877 So. 2d 602, 603

(Ala. Civ. App. 2003) (citing Ex parte Bryowsky, 676 So. 2d

13222 (Ala. 1896})).

In Clements v. Clements, supra, this court rejected an

argument that the trial court had impermissibly placed the
initial burden under the Act on the nonrelocating parent. In
doing so, this court concluded:

"In the i1instant case, the record contains
evidence from which the trial court could have found

16
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that the mother had rebutted the presumpgtion that
the change in principal residence was not Iin the
child's best interest. The mother presented
evidence indicating that she was the child's primary
caregiver; that she supported the furtherance of the
child's education; and that the move to New York
would offer the c¢child more cultural opportunities.
Thus, under §& 30-3-169.4 the burden shifted to the
father to demonstrate that a change 1in principal
residence is nol in Lhe best interest of the child."

Clements v. Clements, 906 So. 2d at &57.

Similarly, in this case, the mother presented evidence
indicating the difficulties she had had obtaining employment
in Alabama, tChe advantages for her and the child of moving to
California, and her efforts to facilitate the relatlonship
between the father and the c¢child. The father presented
evidence in suppert ¢f his arguments oppoesing the proposed
relocation. However, "kecause the trial court received
evidence ore tenus, 'we must view "'the evidence in the light

most faveorakble to the prevailing partly].'"'™ Nichols v,

Nichels, 4 So. 3d 491, 493 (Ala. Civ. App. 2008} (quoting

Diggs v. Diggs, 910 So. 24 1274, 1275 (Ala. Civ. App. 2005},

gueting in turn Architectura, Tnc. v, Miller, 769 So. 2d 330,

332 (Ala. Civ. App. 2000), guoting in turn Driver v, Hice, 618

So. 2d 129, 131 (Ala. Civ. App. 1993})). As stated earlier, 1t

is the trial ccurt, and not this court, that has the duty of

17
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assessing the c¢redibility of those who testify and in
determining the weight to be afforded to the evidence

presented to 1t. Clements v. Clements, 906 So. 2d at 959.

This court may not base its judgment on its interpretation of
the evidence presented to the trial court. Rather, it is well
settled that "'[i]lt is our duty to affirm the trial court's
Judgment if it is fairly supported by credible evidence,
"regardless of our own view of that evidence or whether we
would have reached a different result had we been the trial

Jjudge." '™ Sankey v. Sankey, %61 So. 2d 8%s, 801 (Ala. Ciwv.

App. 2007) (guoting Griggs v. Griggs, 638 So. 2d 916, 918-19

(Ala. Civ. App. 19%4), quoting in turn Ycung v. Young, 376 So.

2d 737, 73% (Ala. Civ. App. 1979)). After reviewing the
reccord on appeal and affording the trial cocurt's judgment the
deference required by the ore tenus standard, we conclude that
the record "contalns evidence from which the trial court cculd
have found that the mother had rebutted the presumpticn that
the change 1n principal residence was not in the child's best

interest.” (Clements v. Clements, 906 Sc. 24 at 957.

The burden then shifted to the father to demonstrate that

the proposed relcocaticn was not 1in the child's best interests.

18
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$ 30-3-169.4, Ala. Code 1975. The father cites Nichols v.

Nichols, supra, in support of his argument that the trial
court erred in allowing the proposed relocation. In that
case, the trial court sustained the father's objection to the
mother's proposed relocation with their seven-year-old child
to Maryland. In doing so, the trial court found that the
mother had rebutted the presumption that the relocation would
not ke in the child's best interests, but it then found that,
after the burden had shifted to the father, the father had
demonstrated that the proposed move was not in the child's
best Interests. This court affirmed the trial court's
Judgment, c¢iting the ore tenus rule, and noting that the
record showed that
"[the father] introduced evidence establishing that
he, his family, and the mother's family are all
actively Involved in the c¢hild's 1life; that the
child benefits greatly from thelir involvement in her
life; and that that invelvement would be
significantly reduced if the mcther moves the child
to Potomac. At the same time, the father introduced
evidence establishing that the involvement of the
stepfather and the stepfather’'s family 1in the
child's 1ife would nct compensate for the reduced
invelvement of the father, the father's family, and

the mother's family in the child's life."

Nicholg v. Nicheolg, 4 So, 3d at 495,

19
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In this case, the father presented evidence indicating
that his work schedule is also flexible, that the child could
remain 1in his current preschool, and that the father has
family 1in the area that can assist him in caring for the
child. Although both parties have family in Alabama, the
parties did not present evidence, as did the parties in

Nichols v. Nichols, sugra, of a particularly clcse

relationship between the c¢hild and his extended-family
members. Also, the father indicated that part of his support
system was to be the mcther's parents; however, the mother's
father stated that he and his wife would likely relocate to be
near the mother and child.

The father testified that he and the child share a clcse
relationship and that the proposed move weuld prevent him from
being involved in the future in the child's daily activities,
such as scheocol and extracurricular activities. The father
disputed the mother's evidence 1ndicating that he had not
exercised all the custodial time available tc him. However,
as stated earlier, 1t is the trial court, and not this court,
that has the duty of assessing the credibility of thoese who

testify and in determining the weight to be afforded to the

20
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evidence presented to it. Clements v. Clements, %06 So. 2d at

859. The evidence would support a conclusion that the father
began regularly exercising his full wvisitation rights only
after the mother initiated this action. Further, the father
admitted that rather than visit the child when he, the mother,
and the child were all in Califernia at the same time, he
spent that time following and investigating the mother.

In this case, the trial court determined that allowing
the child to relocate with the mother served the child's best
interests. Implicit in that finding is a determination that
the father had not rebutted the mother's presentation of
evidence in favor of the proposed relocation. cee & 30-3-

168.4, Ala. Code 1875; Ex parte Brvowsky, 676 So. 2d at 13214

(holding that the appellate courts must presume that a trial
court made the factual Tfindings necessary Lo support its

Judgment}); see also Ex parte Blackstock, [Ms. 1061445, Sept.

11, 2009] Sc. 3d (Ala. 2009) (concluding that a

—T
finding that the mother had met the applicable burden of proof
for a modification of custody was 1implicit in the trial

court's Jjudgment). Viewing the evidence in & light most

favorable to the mother, as the prevailing party, see Nichcls

21
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v. Nichols, supra, we cannot say that the trial court's

determination was "so unsupported by the evidence as to be

plainly and palpably wrong." Clements v. Clements, 906 So. 2d

at 8957. Accordingly, we must conclude that the father has
failed to demonstrate that the trial court erred 1in
determining that that the c¢hild's best interests woculd be
served by allowing the proposed relocation.

The father also challenges the trial court's custody
determination. The Act sets forth a number of factcrs for the
trial court to consider 1n determining whether to modify
custody once the trial court approves the proposed change in
principal residence. Section 30-3-169.3, Ala. Code 1975, sets
forth those factors and provides:

"(a) Upcon the entry of a temporary crder or upon
final Jjudgment permitting the change of principal
residence of a c¢hild, a court may consider a
proposed change of principal residence of a child as
a factor to suppert a change of custody of the
child. 1In determining whether a proposed or actual
change of principal residence ¢f a minor child
sheould cause a change In custody of that child, a
court shall take intc account all facters affecting
the c¢hild, idincluding, but not limited to, the
following:

"(1) The nature, quality, extent of
inveolvement, and duration of the child's
relationship with the person proposing to
relocate with the c¢hild and with the

272
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non-relocating person, sibkblings, and other
significant persons ¢r Institutions in the
child's life.

"(2) The age, developmental stage,
needs of the child, and the likely impact
the change of principal residence of a
child will have on the c¢hild's physical,
educational, and emotioconal development,
taking into consideration any special needs
of the child.

"(3}) The increase 1in travel time for
the child c¢reated by the c¢hange 1In
principal residence of the c¢hild or a
person entitled to custody of or visitation
with the child.

"(4) The availability and cost of
alternate means of communication between
the child and the non-relocating party.

"(5) The feasibility of preserving the
relationship between the non-relocating
person and the c¢hild through suitable
visitation arrangements, considering the
logistics and financial circumstances of
the parties.,

"(6) The preference of the child,
taking 1into ccnsideration the age and
maturity of the child.

"(7) The degree to which a change or
proposed change of the principal residence
of the child will result in uprccting the
child as compared to the degree to which a
modification of the custody of the child
will result in uprooting the child.

23
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"(8) The extent to which custody and
visitation rights have been allowed and
exercised.

"(9) Whether there 1s an established
pattern of conduct of the person seeking to
change the principal residence of a child,
either to promote or thwart the
relationship of the child and the
non-relocating person,

"(10) Whether the person seeking to
change the principal residence of a child,
once out of the jurisdiction, 1s likely to
comply with any new visitation arrangement
and the disposition of that perscn to
foster a Jjoint parenting arrangement with
the non-relocating party.

"(11) Whether the relocation of the
child will enhance the general gquality of
life for koth the custodlal party seeking
the change of principal residence of the
child and the c¢hild, including, but not
limited to, financial or emctional benefit
or educational opportunities.

"(12) Whether or nct a support system
is available in the area of the propocsed
new residence of the child, especially in
the event of an emergency or disability to
the perscon having custody of the child.

"(13) Whether or not the proposed new
residence of a child 1is tc a <forelgn
country whose public policy does not
normally enforce the visitaticon rights of
non-custodial parents, which does not have
an adeguately functicning legal system, or
which otherwise presents a substantial risk
of specific and serious harm to the child.

24
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"(14) The stability of the family unit
of the persons entitled to custody of and
visitation with a child.

"(15) The reasons of each person for
seeking c¢r opposing a change of principal
residence of a child.

"(16) Evidence relating to a history
of domestic viclence or child abuse.

"(17) Any other factor that in the
opinion of the court is material to the
general i1ssue or oLherwise provided by law.

"(b) The court making a determination of such
issue shall enter an order granting the cocbjecticn to
the change or proposaed change of principal residence
of a child, denving the objection to the change or
preoposed change of principal residence of a child,
or any other appropriate relief based upon the facts
of the case.

"(c} The court, 1n approving a change of
principal residence of a child, shall crder contact
between the child and the non-relocating party and
telephone access sufficient to assure that the child
has freguent, c¢ontinuing, and mesaningful contact
with the non-relccating party and shall equitably
appcrtion transportation costs ¢f the child for
visitation based ugon the facts of the case.

"(d} The court, 1in approving a change of
principal residence of a child, may consider the
costs of transporting the child for visitation and
determine whether a deviation from the child support
guidelines should be considered in light of all
factors including, but nct limited to, additicnal
costs 1ncurred for transporting the c¢hild for
visitation.

25
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"(e} The court, 1in approving a change of
principal residence of & c¢child, may retain
Jurisdiction of the wparties and of the child in
order ¢ supervise the tCransition caused by the
change of principal residence of the c¢hild; to
insure compliance with the orders of the court
regarding continued access to the c¢child by the
non-relocating party; to insure the cooperation of
the relocating party in fostering the parent-child
relationship between the child and the
non-relocating party; and to protect the relocating
party and the child from risk of harm in those cases
described 1in Section 30-3-167."

The father cites Sankey v. Sankevy, 261 So. 2d 8%6 (Ala.

Civ. App. 2007), 1n support of his contention that the trial
court erred in awarding the mother primary physical custody
and allowing her to relocate to California with the child. In

Sankey v. Sankevy, supra, the custodial parent, the mother,

sought to relocate with the children to ancther state because
she planned to marry a member of the armed forces who was to
be stationed in Texas. The father oppesed the proposed
relocation and sought a mcdification of custcedy. In that
case, the mother presented no evidence regarding any positive
impact the move to Texas might have on the children, and the
trial court concluded that the mother had ncot met her initial
burden under the Act. Regardless, the trial court stated

that, even if the mcther had met her burden under the Act, it
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still would have granted the father's c¢laim seeking a
modification of custody. 961 So. 2d at 8695, The evidence
indicated that the children enjoyed a close relationship with
the father and with their grandparents, who lived in the area;
that the father had encouraged the children's relationship
with the mother but that she had attempted to interfere with
the father's relationship with the c¢children; and that the
mother's behavior since the parties' divorce had not been in
the children's best interests. Accordingly, citing the cre
tenus rule and the presumption in favor of the correctness of
the trial court's Jjudgment, this court affirmed the trial
court's determination that the mcther had not rebutted the
presumption set forth in the Act, and, again citing the cre
tenus rule, it affirmed the modification of custody of the

children. Sankey v. Sankey, 961 So. 3d at 903.

In this case, the parties shared joint legal and physical
custody of the child, and, therefore, there had been no prior
custody determination. Accordingly, the trial court correctly
applied the M"best interest of the c¢hild" standard in

determining custody. See Hovator v. Hovator, 577 So. 2d 461,

464 (Ala. Civ. App. 19%90) (holding that the "best interest of
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the child" standard applies when there is no prior judgment
granting primary physical custody to cne parent}). Our supreme
court has recently reiterated that,

"[wlhere, as in the present case, there is a
pricr Judgment awarding Joint physical custoedy,
'""the best interests of the child"' standard applies
in any subsequent custody-modification proceeding.
Ex parte Johnson, 673 So. 24 410, 413 (Ala. 19%94)
(quoting Ex parte Couch, 521 So. 2d 987, 989 (Ala.
188&8)). To justify a modification of a preexisting
Judgment awarding custody, the petitlioner must
demonstrate that there has been a material change of
circumstances since thalt Jjudgment was entered and
that '"it [is] in the [child's] best interests that
the [Judgment] be modified"' in the manner
regquested. Nave v. Nave, %42 3o0. 2d 372, 376 (Ala.
Civ. App. 2005) {(guoting Means v. Means, 512 So. 2d
1286, 1388 (Ala. Civ. App. 1987))."

EX parte Blackstock, So. 3d at

We note that much of the evidence the parties submitted
and discussed with regard tc the issue whether the mother
should be allowed to relocate with the child is also pertinent
to the issue whether the trial court erred in refusing to
award primary physical custcedy of the child to the father.

As stated earlier, the record supports a conclusion that
the mother has been the primary caretaker for the child. The
mother alsc presented evidence 1ndicating that she had

encouraged and assisted the c¢hild 1n maintaining his
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relationship with the father, and she testified that she would
continue to do sc. The mother testified that she wanted to
move because of the Jjcb opgportunity and to be close to her
extended family 1in California. Both parties have ties to
California, and the c¢hild has a great deal of extended family
there. The mother presented evidence indicating that she had
a good Job cpportunity that would allow her flexibility to
spend a great deal of time with the child.

The mother proposed a visitation schedule that would
allow the father only six fewer days per year with the child
in Alabama. The mother also testified that she would wcrk
with the father to allow him additional visitation during the
times he visits California.

The father testified that he wanted to be able to take
part in the child's daily activities, which he could not do if
the child lived in California with the mother. The father
stated that he enjoyed a close relationship with the child,
and he disputed the mcther's allegation that he had not
exercised his full custodial rights before the mother
initiated this action. However, the father admitted that he

had spent five days 1n California following the meother and had
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not taken advantage of the mother's offer to zllow him to
visit the child during that time. Thus, the trial court coculd
have guestioned the credibility of the father's statements
that he had fully exercised his custodial time with the child
before the mother initiated this action and his denial that he
was attempting to exercise control over the mother.

This case, like Sankey v. Sankey, supra, and Nichols v.

Nichols, supra, 1involves the application of the ore tenus
rule. In both of those cases, this court, citing the cre
tenus rule, affirmed the trial courts' judgments. The father
insists that the evidence does not support the trial court's
Jjudgment 1in this case. However, our supreme court has
recently reiterated the limited nature of an appellate court's
review of a judgment reached by the trial court after the
trial court recelved core tenus evidence:
"As this Court stated in Ex parte Brvowsky, 6754
So. 2d 1322 (Ala. 1996), quoted in part in Lamb [v.

Lamb, 939 S5o. 24 918 (Ala. Civ. App. 2006})], in an
ore Ltenus proceeding,

"'[tlhe trial court is in the best position
to make a custody determination--it hears
the evidence and observes the witnesses,.

Appellate courts dc not sit in judgment of
disputed evidence that was presented ore
tenus before the trial court in a custcdy
hearing. See Ex parte Perking, 646 Sc. 2d
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46, 47 (Ala. 19%94), wherein this Court,
quoting Phillips v. Phillips, 622 So. 2d
410, 412 (Ala. Civ. App. 1893), set out the
well-established rule:

"'M"T0ur standard o¢of review
is wvery limited in cases where
the evidence 1is presented ore
tenus. A custody determination
of the trial court entered upon
oral testimony 1is accorded a
presumpticon of correctness on

appeal, ... and we will not
reverse unless the evidence so
fails to support the

determination that 1t is plainly
and palpably wrong, or unless an
abuse of the trial court's
discretion is shown. To
substitute our Jjudgment for that
of the trial court would be to
reweigh the evidence, This
Alabama law does not allow.

T
. .

"676 So. 2d at 1324; see Lambk, 939 So. 2d at 922;
see also ExX parte Foley, 864 So. 24 1024, 1099 (Ala.
2003) ('[A]ln appellate court may not substitute its
Judgment for that of the trial court. To doe so
would be to reweigh the evidence, which Alabama law
does not allow.' (citation omitted)).

"'"[TThe trial court is 1n the better position
Lo consider all of the evidence, as well as Lhe many
inferences that may be drawn from that evidence, and

to decide the 1Issue of custody.™' Fx parte
Patronas, 693 So. 2d 473, 475 (Ala. 1997) (guoting
Ex parte Bryowsky, 676 So. 2d at 1326}). 'Thus,

appellate review of a Jjudgment modifying custody
when the evidence was presented ore tenus 1s limited
to determining whether there was sufficient evidence
to support the trial court's Jjudgment.' Cheek wv.
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Dvess, 1 So. 232d 1025, 1029 {(Ala. Civ. App. 2007)
(citing Ex parte Patrcnas) (emphasis added). Under
the ore tenus rule, where the conclusion of the
trial court 1s s¢o c¢pposed to the weight of the
evidence that the wariable factors of a witness's
demeanor and credibility and the inferences that can
be drawn from the evidence, even after considering
those factors, ""'could not reascnably substantiate
it, then the conclusion 1s c¢learly errcneous and
must be reversed.'™!' Cheek, 1 Sc¢. 3d at 1029
(guoting B.J.N, v. P.D., 742 So. 2d 1270, 1274 (Ala.
Civ. App. 1999), quoting in turn Jacoby v. Bell, 370
So. 2d 278, 280 (Ala. 1978} (emphasis added)}.

EX warte Blackstock, S50. 324 at (first emphasis added).

As the trial court noted at the close of the evidence,
this is a close case. It is clear that both parties are good
parents and that they each love the child. The trial court,
after considering the ore tenus evidence, fcund that awarding
custody to the mother and allcecwing the proposed change of
principal residence was 1n the child's best interests. Given
our standard of review and the record on appeal, we cannot say
that the father has demconstrated that there 1s no evidence to
"reasonably substantiate™” the trial court's custody

determination. Ex parte Blackstock, So. 3d at

Accordingly, we affirm that part of the trial court's judgment

awarding the mother primary physical custody ¢f the child.
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The father alsoc argues that the trial court erred in
increasing his child-support obligation from $225 per month to
$690.50 per month. The father first takes issue with the
trial court's determination of his gross monthly income, which
the trial court found to be $4,222.22. The father argues that
he presented evidence indicating that his income was $2,000 to
$3,000 per month. We note that in his postjudgment motion the
father alleged that his gress monthly inceme was $3,167 per
month.

The father is self-employed. Rule 22, Ala. R. Jud.
Admin., defines "self-employment income™ as follows:

"(a) For income from self-employment, rent,
royalties, proprietorship of business, or Joint
ownership of partnership or closely held
corporaticn, 'gross income' means gross receipls
minus ordinary and necessary expenses required to
produce this income, as allowed by the Internal
Revenue Service, with the exceptions noted 1n
subsecticn (B) {(3) (b)."

Rule 32(B) (3) (&), Ala. R. Jud. Admin.

The father's testimony concerning the issue of child
support, for which he alsc asserted a clalim seeking
modification, could be interpreted as evasive. The father

testified only that his monthly income from draws from his

construction business averaged 52,000 to $3,000; he did not

33



2090001

specify whether those figures represented gross income or net
income. Other than his own testimony regarding his estimate
of his monthly income, the father did not attempt to present
any evidence regarding his income.

The mother presented evidence 1n an attempt to rebut the
father's testimony regarding the amount of his perscnal
income. The mother submitted into evidence the father's
banking records, which demonstrate large deposits and
expenditures for the father's business and which also
demonstrate the father's personal expenditures. The mother's
evidence showed that the father paid an average of $9,700 a
month in personal expenses 1n the six months befcre the final
hearing. It 1s c¢lear that the father, 1n operating his
business, has intermingled his business finances and his
personal finances. The father did not present evidence,
either for his kbusiness finances or for his personal finances,
to counter the mother's evidence pertaining to his income and
expenditures. Likewise, on appeal, the father does not make
any effort to explain the complicated evidence pertaining to

his finances.
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In Klapal wv. Brannon, %10 So. 2d 1167 (Ala. Civ. App.

1892), the self-employed father claimed to have approximately
$27,000 in annual income; however, his income-tax returns
indicated a profit for his business of more than $50,000.
This court rejected the father's argument that the trial court
had erred in considering the business's gross income 1in
determining his income for the purpose of calculating child

"

support. The court noted that, [wlhen earnings are from
self-employment, 'gross income' means gross business receipts
minus ordinary and necessary business expenses." Klapal v.
Brannon, 610 So. 2d at 1170 {(citing former Rule 32 ({(B) (3) (I},

which is now Rule 32({B) (3) {(a), Ala. R. Jud. Admin.).

In Davidson v. Davidscn, 643 So. 2d 1001 (Ala. Civ. App.

19894), the father, a self-employed electrician, testified that
because the mother had the parties' income-tax returns, he did
not know his yearly income. The mcther testified that the
father's income was $25,000. After a remand to comply with
the Rule 32, Ala. R. Jud. Admin., child-support guidelines,
the parties submitted income affidavits in which the father
represented his gross income as being $1,000 per month, and

the mother represented her income as being $947 per month.
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The trial court based its child-support determination on a
finding that the father earned $2,000 per month and the mother
carned $1,2%0 per month. This court affirmed the child-
support award, concluding that "the trial court was within its
discretion to determine the monthly gross income of the
parties and that 1t correctly applied the Child Suppcrt

Guidelines." Davidson v. Davidson, 643 So. 2d at 1004.

It is not clear from the record the exact method by which
the trial court determined the father's monthly gross income.
However, the trial court had before it evidence pertaining to
the income and expenditures of the father's business. See

Klapal v. Brannon, supra. Given that evidence and 1its

observations of the father as he testified, the trial court
could have determined that the father's testimony ccncerning
the amount of his income from his business lacked credibility.

See Littleton v. Tittleton, 741 Sco. 2d 1083, 1085 (Ala. Civ.

App. 199%%) ("The presumption of correctness [in favor of a
trial court's judgment pursuant tce the ore tenus rule] is
based in part on the trial court's unigue ability to okserve
the parties and the witnesses and to evaluate their

credibility and demeancr."}). Further, in considering the
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level of a support-payling parent's income, the trial court may
alsc consider any portion of that parent's business income
that 1s reinvested in the business rather than paid out to the

parent as a draw. Brown v. Brown, 960 So. 2d 712, 716 (Ala.

Civ. App. 2006).

Given the evidence 1in the record on appeal and the
father's argument pertaining to his income for the purposes of
calculating his child-support obligation, we cannot say that
the father has demonstrated that the trial court exceeded its
discretion in determining his gross monthly income. Davidson

v. Davidson, supra; see alsc Neny v. Neny, 989 So. 2d 565, 571

(Ala. Civ. App. 2008) ("The trial court cculd have determined
that, notwithstanding the mother's testimony that she paid
herself a salary in the $30,000 to $40,000 range, her income,
for purposes ¢f Rule 32 (B) (3) (a), was considerably higher.™).

The father has not asserted that, assuming that the trial
court did not err in determining the amount of his gross
monthly income, the trial court erred in 1ts calculation of
child support pursuant to the Rule 32, Ala. R. Jud. Admin.,
child-support guidelines. Our review reveals that, given the

parties' 1ncomes as determined by the trial court 1in its
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September 9, 2009, judgment, as well as the undisputed costs
of child care and health insurance for the c¢child, the trial
court vroperly calculated the father's child-support
obligation pursuant to those guidelines.

We note that the father asserts that the Rule 32 child-

support guidelines allow for a deviation from those guidelines

in situations in which "l[e]xtraordinary costs of
transportation for purposes of vwvisitation [are] Dborne
substantially by one parent." Rule 32(2) (1) (b), Ala. R. Jud.
Admin. (emphasis added). The father contends that no

allccation of the costs of transportation was included in the
trial court's determination of his child-support obligation.
However, the father did not argue before the trial court that
a deviation from the Rule 32 child-suppcocrt guidelines was
warranted, and he may not assert that argument for the first

time on appeal. See Norman v. Bozeman, 605 So. 2d 1210, 1214

(Ala. 1992) ("Our review 1is limited to the issues that were
before the trial court--an issue raised on appeal must have
first been presented tce and ruled on by the trial ccurt.");

and Smith v. Equifax Servs., Inc., 537 So. 2d 4632, 465 (Ala.

1888) ("[An appellate court] will not reverse the trial
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court's judgment on a ground raised for the first time on
appeal."}.

Also, as the mother correctly points out in her brief
submitted to this court, the trial court, as part of its
September 9, 2009, judgment, ordered that the mother pay 60%
of all costs assoclated with transporting the child for
visitation with the father and that the father pavy the
remaining 40% of those costs. Thus, we cannot say that the
father has demonstrated that he 1s the party reguired to
"substantially [bear|” the cost of vigitaticon-related
transportation.

The father last argues that the trial court erred in
failing to conduct a hearing on his postjudgment motion. Such
a hearing i1s required when it is requested. Rule 59{(g), Ala.
R, Civ., P, However, the failure to conduct a hearing on a
postijudgment motion 1is not necessarily reversible error.

Kitchens v. Maye, 623 So. Zd 1082, 1089 (Ala. 1993).

"Harmless error occurs, within the context ¢f a Rule
59(g) mction, where there 1is either no probable
merit in the grounds asserted in the metion, or
where the appellate court resolves the 1ssues
presented therein, as a matter of law, adversely to
the movant, by application of the same objective
standard of review as that applied in the trial
court."
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Greene v. Thompson, 554 So. 2d 376, 381 (Ala. 18%89). 1In this

case, we have already determined that the father has failed to
demonstrate error with regard to those issues that were
presented to the trial court in his postjudgment motion.
Accordingly, we decline to reverse the trial court's judgment
based on its failure to conduct a hearing on the father's

postijudgment motion. Kitchens v. Mave, supra; Greene v.

Thompson, supra.

AFFIRMED.
Pittman, Thomas, and Moore, JJ., concur.
Brvan, J., c¢oncurs in part and dissents 1in part, with

writing.
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BRYAN, Judge, concurring in part and dissenting in part.

I concur in the main opinion insofar as it affirms the
calculation of the father's child-support obligation. However,
I respectfully dissent from the conclusion reached by a
majority of this court that Sarah J. EKnight ("the mother"™)
overcame the presumption found in § 20-3-169.4, Ala. Code
1875, so as to shift the burden of proof to Kevin J. Knight
("the father"). Because I do not agree that the principal
residence of the child should have been relocated, I do not
believe that the factors set forth in § 20-3-162.3 shculd have
been considered by the trial court. Thus, I would remand the
cause to the trial court for consideration of the father's
counterclaim for custody of the child in light c¢f the fact
that the child's principal residence would not ke relocated.
Because tLhe majority also helds that the trial court's failure
to conduct a hearing on the father's postjudgment motion was

harmless error, citing Kitchens v. Maye, 623 So. 2d 1082, 1089

(Ala. 1993), and Greene v. Thompson, 554 So. 2d 376, 381 (Ala.

1889), I must dissent from that conclusion as well.
As detailed in the main opinion, this case invoclves the

proposed relocation of the principal residence of & c¢child. The
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mother and the father were divorced by the Lauderdale Circuit
Court on August 29, 2008. Pursuant to an agreement of the
parties, the trial court awarded the parties joint legal and
physical custody of the parties' minor child, who was born in
October 2006. The parties agreed to a custody schedule
accerding to which, in an 1l1-day c¢ycle, the mother weuld
exercise physical custody of the child for 7 days and the
father would exercise physical custody of the child for 4
days.

Only five months after the joint-custody agreement of the
parties was incorporated into the divorce judgment, the mother
initiated an action to meodify custoedy of the c¢child and to
modify child support. The mother also requested permission to
relccate with the child to Santa Ynez, California. The father
filed an answer 1n which he objected Lo the child's propoesed
change of residence, and he filed counterclaims for custody of
the child and an award of child support.

The evidence revealed that both parties were good parents
and that neither party had any complaints about the other
parties' ability to parent the c¢child. The mother and the

father are originally from California, and the mother still
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has a significant amount of family near the Santa Ynez area.
Her parents, who at the time of the hearing lived in Florence,
Alabama, were attending the University of North Alabama, but
the mother's father testified that he and the mother's mother
intended to return to California after they graduated. The
father also has family in Florence, including his mother, who
has babysat the child, and his vyounger brother, who 1s clcse
to the child.

The mother wanted to move to Santa Ynez because she was
offered a job earning approximately $50,000 a year. The mother
stated that her clothing business had failed and that she had
not been able to locate a job in Florence. The mother stated
that relocating to California would benefit the child because
she would be more financially capable of caring for the child,
because she and the child would have a strong suppert system
in California, and because she would be able tce enroll the
child into what the mcther perceived as a better school. She
stated that the father and the child would be able to malintain
consistent contact with one ancther because they could use
Skype, which is a means of talking via a computer using a Web

camera.
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The mother alleged that she had been the primary
caretaker of the child and that the father had not exercised
all of his allotted visitation with the child. The father
denied missing visitation with the child. However, there was
no dispute about the father's close relationship with the
child. The father testified that he desired to maintain a
close relationship with the child because he had nct had the
benefit of a relationship with his father. The father is self-
employed and financially stable.

The Alabama Parent-Child Relationship Protection Act, §
30-3-160 et seqg., Ala. Code 1975 ("the Act™), governs the
outcome of this case. In the Act, our legislature set forth
the general philosophy of the 5tate of Alabama that was

initially established in & 30-32-150, Ala. Code 1975, which is

"Lhat children need both parents, even after a divorce.,™ § 30-

2-160, Ala. Ccde 1975 (emphasis added). Section 30-3-150,
which sets forth this state's policy regarding joint custoedy,
provides:

"It 1s the policy of this state to assure that minor
children have frequent and continuing contact with
parents who have shown the ability to act in the
best Interest of their children and to encourage
parents to share in the rights and responsikbilities
of rearing their children after the parents have
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separated or dissolved their marriage. Joint custody
does nol necessarily mean equal physical custody."

(Emphasis added.)
To further this underlying general philoscophy, our
legislature, in the Act, reguired that:

"Tn proceedings under this article unless there
has been a determination that the party cbjecting to
the change of the principal residence of the child
has been found to have committed domestic violence
or c¢hild abuse, Lhere shall be a rebultable
presunmption that a change of principal residence of
a child is net in Lhe best interest of the child,
The party seeking a change of principal residence of
a child shall have the initial burden of proof on
the issue. If that kurden of proof is met, the
burden of proof shifts to the non-relocating party.”

Ala. Code 1975, &€ 30-3-169.4 (emphasis added).
T believe Lhat the Act was enacted for just such a case
as this. I agree with then Judge Murdoeck's statement In his

special writing in Toler v, Toler, 947 So. 2d 416, 424 (Ala.

Civ. App. 20006), that "the Act adopts a new presumption and
new rules of decision, including those in §§% 30-3-169.3 and

30-3-169.4, obviously intended to discourage unnecessary

relocationsg by custodial parents that would make the

maintenance of relationships between a child and both of his

or her parents legs likely or legs fully realized." (Murdock,

J., concurring specially). The rebuttable presumption found in
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% 30-3-16%.4 is not a minimal presumption to overcome. The
standard, as supported by the enunciation of the pubklic policy
of this State in & 30-3-150 and & 20-3-160, is that the child
needs both parents. In order to overcome this standard and in
order to covercome the burden set forth in & 30-3-169.4, the
parent seeking to relocate the principal residence of the
child has a significant hurdle to overcome. This hurdle cannot
be overcome by evidence indicating merely that the relocating
parent will have a higher-paying job and a "support group" out
of state.

The undisputed facts in this case reveal that the father
1s an excellent parent, that the father has a strong bond with
the child, that the father has consistently provided support
for the c¢hild, and that the father desires to maintain a clcse
relationship with the child. T sympathize with the situation
of the mother and her desire to Dbetter her financial
circumstances, and there 1is no doubt that the c¢hild's
releocation to Santa Ynez would provide some benefit to the
child. I simply cannot conclude, as the majority ¢f this Court
does, that the mother met her burden of proof pursuant to %

30-3-16%.4. In my opinicon, this case is the epitome of a case
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invelving an unnecessary move that will make it difficult for
the father to maintain a strong relationship with the child.

I believe that the c¢hild's maintenance of a strong

relationship with the father overshadows any alleged benefit
that would occur upon the child's relocation to California.
Tellingly, I am not convinced that "video-telephcne
conversations" Dbetween the father and the c¢child will
compensate for the fact that the child will not have regular,
meaningful, face-to-face contact with the father. Nor do I
believe that an award of visitation that allows the father to
have almost as many visitation days as he exercised while the
child lived in Alabama will replace the fact the father simply
will not Dbe able to participate 1in the irreplaceakle
milestones in the child's 1life such as school activities,
sports activities, and church activities, as well as a laundry
list of other "firsts" that the father will not be present
for, especially after the child kegins school full-time in
California. The father specifically expressed his desire to
maintain a close and meaningful relaticnship with the child,
his son, because the father had not had the benefit of a cloese

relationship with his father. The decision te allow a change
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in the principal residence of the child negates any realistic
possibility of the father's maintaining the same type of
relationship that he now shares with the child.

I do not take lightly this court's dutvy to presume that
factual findings made by a trial court are correct. However,
after review of the record in thisgs case, I fear that the
policy of this state, which is to encourage frequent and
continual contact between a child and both of his or her
parents after a divorce, 1is disintegrating under a mistzken
belief that a relocating parent does not have a significant
burden to overcome, especially in cases such as this where the

nonrelocating parent and the child have a strong bond.
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